PLANNING AND PLACEMAKING COMMITTEE

Minute of hybrid meeting of the Planning and Placemaking Committee held in the Council Chambers, 2 High Street, Perth, on Wednesday 12 July 2023 at 9:30am.

Present: Councillors I Massie and G Stewart, Bailies C McLaren and M Williamson, Councillors H Anderson (Item 5(2)(i) onwards), B Brawn, A Forbes (Substituting for D Illingworth), I James, K Harvey (Item 5(2)(i) onwards), B Leishman, C Reid and R Watters and Provost X McDade (Substituting for Councillor D Cuthbert).

In Attendance: L Maclean, S Panton, L Reid, K Smith and P Williamson (all Communities); G Fogg, J Guild, M Pasternak and R Ramsay (all Corporate and Democratic Services).

Apologies: Councillors D Cuthbert and D Illingworth.

Councillor I Massie, Convener, Presiding.

1. WELCOME AND APOLOGIES

The Convener welcomed everyone present to the meeting. Apologies were noted as above.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

In terms of the Councillors Code of Conduct, Bailie C McLaren declared a non-financial interest in Item 5(1)(i).

3. MINUTES

The minute of meeting of the Planning and Placemaking Committee of 14 June 2023, be approved.

4. **DEPUTATIONS**

In terms of Standing Order 13, the Committee agreed to hear deputations in relation to the following planning application:

Planning Application No. Item No. 23/00753/FLL 5(2)(i)

HAVING DECLARED AN INTEREST IN THE FOLLOWING ITEM, BAILIE C MCLAREN LEFT THE CHAMBER AT THIS POINT.

5. APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION

(1) Major Application

(i) 22/01290/FLM – Formation of a replacement poultry rearing farm comprising 4 rearing sheds, storage shed, office and staff welfare facility, fences and gates, formation of vehicular access road, hard standing areas, parking, SUDS, landscaping, installation of LPG tanks and associated works, land 200 metres north west of Innerpeffray, Crieff

Resolved:

Grant, subject to the following conditions, terms and informatives:

General

- 1. This planning permission will last only for three years from the date of this decision notice, unless the development has been lawfully started within that period. Reason This is a Planning Permission in terms of Section 58 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997, as amended by Section 32 of the Planning (Scotland) Act 2019.
- 2. The development hereby approved must be carried out in accordance with the approved drawings and documents, unless otherwise provided for by conditions imposed by this decision notice.
 - Reason To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved drawings and documents.

Contamination

- 3. Development shall not commence on site until an evaluation for the potential of the site to be affected by contamination by a previous use has been undertaken and, as a minimum, a Preliminary Risk Assessment (Phase 1 Desk Study) has been submitted for consideration and accepted by the Council as Planning Authority. If the preliminary risk assessment identifies the need for further assessment, an intrusive investigation shall be undertaken to identify;
 - I. the nature, extent and type(s) of contamination on the site
 - II. measures to treat/remove contamination to ensure the site is fit for the use proposed
 - III. measures to deal with contamination during construction works
 - IV. condition of the site on completion of decontamination measures.

Prior to the completion or bringing into use of any part of the development the measures to decontaminate the site shall be fully implemented in accordance with the scheme subsequently agreed by the Council as Planning Authority. Verification that the scheme has been fully implemented must also be submitted to the Council as Planning Authority.

Reason – In order to deal with any potential contamination of the site as a result of its former use.

Residential Amenity

- 4. All plant or equipment shall be so enclosed, attenuated and/or maintained such that any noise therefrom shall not exceed Noise Rating 35 between 0700 and 2300 hours daily, or Noise Rating 20 between 2300 and 0700 hours daily, within any neighbouring residential property, with all windows slightly open, when measured and/ or calculated and plotted on a rating curve chart.

 Reason In order to safeguard the residential amenity of
- 5. Should any aspect of the development result in verified noise complaint determined by the Council as Planning Authority in consultation with Environmental Health, within 14 days of written request by the Council as Planning Authority, the applicant shall arrange for a Noise Impact Assessment by a suitably qualified noise consultant with the scope and timescale submitted to and agreed in writing with the Council as Planning Authority in consultation with Environmental Health. Thereafter any

Reason – In order to safeguard the residential amenity of the area.

agreed mitigation measures shall be implemented to

ameliorate the nuisance.

- 6. The hereby approved Odour and Noise Management Plan, contained within the Planning Statement (drawing No 26) shall, be implemented in full and be strictly adhered to throughout the operational stage of the development to ensure the control of potential nuisances (including noise, odour, air quality (dust), flies and other pests) that, would be liable to arise at the site as a consequence of and/or in relation to, the operation of the poultry units
 - Reason In order to safeguard the residential amenity of the area.
- 7. Servicing of and deliveries to the premises shall be carried out between 0700 and 1900 Monday to Saturday only, with no servicing or deliveries permitted on Sundays.
 - Reason In order to safeguard the residential amenity of the area.
- 8. Audible vehicle reversing alarms shall be operated on the method that the warning is only emitted, if necessary, e.g., on an infrared signal which detects persons/hazards to the rear of the vehicle.

- Reason In order to minimise noise emissions and safeguard the residential amenity of the area.
- 9. Should any aspect of the development result in verified odour complaint determined by the Council as Planning Authority in consultation with Environmental Health, within 14 days of written request by the Council as Planning Authority, the applicant shall arrange for an Odour Impact Assessment (OIA) to be carried out by a suitably qualified consultant. The OIA findings shall be submitted for the written approval of the Council as Planning Authority, in consultation with Environmental Health and must draw conclusions and make recommendations as necessary. Thereafter any necessary measures to ameliorate the odour nuisance should be put in place, and a new or revised Operational Management Plan must be submitted to the council within a specified agreed timescale.
 - Reason In order to safeguard the residential amenity of the area.
- 10. All external lighting shall be sufficiently screened and aligned so as to ensure that there is no direct illumination of neighbouring land and that light spillage beyond the boundaries of the site is minimised to a degree that it does not adversely affect the amenity of the neighbouring land.

Reason – In order to safeguard the residential amenity of the area.

Roads and Access

- 11. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, the applicant shall submit for the further written agreement of the Council as Planning Authority, in consultation with the Roads Authority (Structures), a Construction Traffic Management Scheme (TMS) which shall include the following:
 - a. restriction of construction traffic to approved routes and the measures to be put in place to avoid other routes being used;
 - timing of construction traffic to minimise impact on local communities particularly at school start and finishing times, on days when refuse collection is undertaken, on Sundays and during local events;
 - c. a code of conduct for HGV drivers to allow for queuing traffic to pass;
 - d. arrangements for liaison with the Roads Authority regarding winter maintenance;
 - e. emergency arrangements detailing communication and contingency arrangements in the event of vehicle breakdown;
 - f. arrangements for the cleaning of wheels and chassis of vehicles to prevent material from construction sites

- associated with the development being deposited on the road;
- g. arrangements for cleaning of roads affected by material deposited from construction sites associated with the development;
- h. arrangements for signage at site accesses and crossovers and on roads to be used by construction traffic in order to provide safe access for pedestrians, cyclists and equestrians;
- i. details of information signs to inform other road users of construction traffic;
- j. arrangements to ensure that access for emergency service vehicles are not impeded;
- k. co-ordination with other significant developments known to use roads affected by construction traffic;
- I. traffic arrangements in the immediate vicinity of temporary construction compounds;
- m. monitoring, reporting and implementation arrangements;
- n. arrangements for dealing with non-compliance; and
- o. details of HGV movements to and from the site. The TMS as approved shall be strictly adhered to during the entire site construction programme.
- Reason In the interest of proper site management.
- 12. Prior to the occupation of the development, the applicant shall provide 5 cycle parking spaces in accordance with the approved details (drawing number 23) to the satisfaction of the Council as Planning Authority.

 Reason To encourage active travel and meet advice within Scottish Planning Policy on transport.
- 13. No development in connection with the permission hereby granted shall commence unless both the vehicular accesses have been provided and surfaced in accordance with Perth & Kinross Council's Road Development Guide Type E Figure 5.8 access detail, of Type B Road construction detail. The Type B Road construction detail shall continue to the entrance for a distance of 10.5 metres. Once provided, the vehicular and pedestrian access shall thereafter be permanently retained as such.
 - Reason In the interests of road safety; to ensure an acceptable standard of construction within the public road boundary.
- 14. Prior to the development hereby approved being completed or brought into use, whichever is the earlier, the access shall be constructed so that no surface water or surfacing aggregate is discharged onto the public road. Reason In the interests of road safety; to ensure an acceptable standard of construction within the public road boundary.

15. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, full visibility splays of 75 metres along the channel line shall be provided to the left and right of the accesses, at a set-back of 2.4 metres measured 1.05m above the road level to the standard and specification required by the Council as Roads Authority to the satisfaction of the Planning Authority. The visibility splays shall be physically formed on the ground and any existing fences, walls, hedges or other means of enclosure or obstructions within the splays greater than 1.05 metres in height shall be removed and relocated out with the splays. Once formed, the visibility splays shall be permanently retained thereafter, and no visual obstruction above 1.05 metres of any kind shall be permitted within the visibility splays so formed.

Reason – In the interests of road safety; to ensure an acceptable standard of construction within the public road boundary.

Landscape

- 16. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, a detailed landscaping and planting scheme for the site shall be submitted for the written agreement of the Council as Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of the height and slopes of any mounding or recontouring of the site, full details of all hard landscaping proposals including materials and installation methods and, species, height, size and density of trees and shrubs to be planted. All tree and hedgerow planting shall be of an appropriate native species. The scheme as subsequently approved shall be carried out and completed within the first available planting season (October to March) after the completion or bringing into use of the development, whichever is the earlier, and the date of Practical Completion of the landscaping scheme shall be supplied in writing to the Council as Planning Authority within 7 days of that date. The scheme as agreed and implemented shall thereafter be maintained to the satisfaction of the Council as Planning Authority. Reason – In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure the satisfactory implementation of the proposed planting scheme.
- 17. Any planting failing to become established within five years shall be replaced in the following planting season with others of similar size, species and number. Reason To ensure a satisfactory standard of development and environmental quality and to reserve the rights of the Planning Authority.
- 18. All trees identified for retention and any peripheral trees bounding the site, which may be affected by any element of the approved development and its associated

construction, (including land within the blue site area) shall be protected in full accordance with BS 5837: 2012 'Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction'. Approved Tree Protection measures shall not be removed breached or altered without prior written authorisation from the local planning authority but shall remain in a functional condition throughout the entire development or as per the phasing plan. If such protection measures are damaged beyond effective functioning then works that may compromise the protection of trees shall cease until the protection can be repaired or replaced with a specification that shall provide a similar degree of protection.

Reason – To ensure a satisfactory standard of development and environmental quality and to reserve the rights of the Planning Authority.

Biodiversity

- 19. Measures to protect animals from being trapped in open excavations and/or pipe and culverts shall be implemented for the duration of the construction works of the development hereby approved. The measures may include creation of sloping escape ramps for animals, which may be achieved by edge profiling of trenches/excavations or by using planks placed into them at the end of each working day and open pipework greater than 150 mm outside diameter being blanked off at the end of each working day.

 Reason In order to prevent animals from being trapped within any open excavations.
 - within any open excavations.

 Lighting will be designed and positioned in such a way as to prevent light spillage into adjacent watercourses and
 - Reason In the interests of protecting environmental quality and of biodiversity.

Archaeology

woodland.

20.

21. Development shall not commence until the developer has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a Written Scheme of Archaeological Investigation (WSI) which has been submitted by the developer and agreed in writing by the Council as Planning Authority, in consultation with Perth and Kinross Heritage Trust (PKHT). Thereafter, the developer shall ensure that the programme of archaeological works is fully implemented including that all excavation, preservation, recording, recovery, analysis, publication and archiving of archaeological resources within the development site is undertaken. Should the archaeological works, as required by the WSI, identify a requirement for post-excavation analysis, the development as approved shall not be occupied or

brought into use until a Post-Excavation Research Design (PERD) has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Council as Planning Authority, in consultation with PKHT. The PERD shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved details. Furthermore, the developer shall afford access at all reasonable times to PKHT or a nominated representative and shall allow them to observe work in progress.

Reason – To ensure archaeological monitoring is carried out to safeguard and record any archaeological remains within the development area.

Informatives

- 1. Under Section 27A of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 (as amended) the person undertaking the development is required to give the Planning Authority prior written notification of the date on which it is intended to commence the development. A failure to comply with this statutory requirement would constitute a breach of planning control under Section 123(1) of that Act, which may result in enforcement action being taken.
- 2. As soon as practicable after the development is complete, the person who completes the development is obliged by Section 27B of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 (as amended) to give the Planning Authority written notice of that position.
- 3. No work shall be commenced until an application for building warrant has been submitted and approved.
- 4. The applicant should take note of the information and advice contained within the consultation response from Scottish Water.
- 5. Existing buildings or structures may contain nesting birds between 1st March and 31st August inclusive. The applicant is reminded that, under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as amended (Section 1), it is an offence to remove, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird while that nest is in use or being built. Planning permission for a development does not provide a defence against prosecution under this Act.
- 6. The applicant is advised that any proposed signage will require a further application to be submitted for advertisement consent unless it benefits from express consent as per the Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (Scotland) Regulations 1984.
- 7. This development will require the 'Display of notice while development is carried out', under Section 27C(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1997, as amended, and Regulation 41 of the Development Management Procedure (Scotland) Regulations 2013. The form of the

notice is set out in Schedule 7 of the Regulations and a draft notice is included for your guidance. In accordance with Regulation 41 the notice must be:

- Displayed in a prominent place at or in the vicinity of the site of the development
- Readily visible to the public
- Printed on durable material.
- 8. Further information on the need for and level of provision of Changing Places Toilet Facilities can be found in Section 41B of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997, the Town and Country Planning (Changing Places Toilet Facilities) (Scotland) Regulations 2020 and the associated Circular 1/2020: Changing Places Toilets Regulations.
- 9. The applicant should be aware of the requirements of the Council's Environment and Regulatory Services in relation to waste collection from the site and should ensure adequate measures are provided on site to allow for the collection of waste.
- The applicant is advised to refer to Perth & Kinross Council's Supplementary Guidance on Flood Risk and Flood Risk Assessments 2021 as it contains advice relevant to your development. https://www.pkc.gov.uk/ldp2floodrisk
- This planning permission is granted subject to conditions, 11. some of which require further information to be submitted to Development Management either before works can start on site or at a certain time. The required information must be submitted via the ePlanning portal if your original application was lodged that way, otherwise send it to us at developmentmanagement@pkc.gov.uk. Please be aware that a fee is payable in respect of each request made, though there is no limit to the number of conditions that can be discharged in a single request. The Fees Charter is available on our website www.pkc.gov.uk. The Council has two months to consider the information. You should therefore submit the required information more than two months before your permission expires. We cannot guarantee that submissions made within two months of the expiry date of your permission will be able to be dealt with before your permission lapses.
- 12. This application was varied prior to determination, in accordance with the terms of Section 32A of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997, as amended. The variations incorporate changes to relocate SUDS and revise access arrangements.

BAILIE C MCLAREN RETURNED TO THE CHAMBER.

COUNCILLOR H ANDERSON JOINED THE MEETING AT THIS POINT.

(2) Local Application

(i) 23/00753/FLL – Erection of 3 dwellinghouses and associated landscaping and access, Wester Balgedie Farm, Wester Balgedie, Kinross KY13 9HE

Mr K Milne, objector to the application, followed by Mr D Webster, applicant, and Mr R Willis, architect, addressed the Committee and answered Members' questions.

COUNCILLOR K HARVEY JOINED THE MEETING AT THIS POINT.

THERE FOLLOWED A RECESS AND THE COMMITTEE RECONVENED AT 10:25AM.

Motion (Councillors I Massie and C Reid)

Grant, subject the following conditions, terms and informatives:

Conditions

- 1. This planning permission will last only for three years from the date of this decision notice, unless the development has been lawfully started within that period. Reason This is a Planning Permission in terms of Section 58 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997, as amended by Section 32 of the Planning (Scotland) Act 2019.
- 2. The development hereby approved must be carried out in accordance with the approved drawings and documents, unless otherwise provided for by conditions imposed by this decision notice.
 - Reason To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved drawings and documents.
- 3. The foul drainage infrastructure capable of achieving not less than 125% phosphorus mitigation associated with this development shall be undertaken in a phased manner:
 - (a) No development shall commence on the approved development site until the mitigating foul drainage infrastructure at the remote properties at 'Kinshiell', Main Street, Kinnesswood, has been installed,
 - (b) Following the installation of the foul drainage infrastructure at the remote property/properties, the development site shall only be occupied once the foul drainage infrastructure for the development site has been installed. For the avoidance of doubt the installed drainage infrastructure at the development site as approved shall be retained.

Reason – To ensure appropriate drainage arrangements are installed and retained to remove phosphorus from the Loch Leven Catchment Area thereby ensuring

- compliance with Policy 46 A & B: Loch Leven Catchment Area of the Perth and Kinross Local Development Plan 2 (2019) and Enterprise and Infrastructure Committee Resolution of 28 August 2013.
- 4. Development shall not commence until the applicant has submitted approved CAR licence(s) under the Water Environment (Controlled Activities)(Scotland) Regulations 2011 for the drainage infrastructure associated with this project to the Council as Planning Authority and the Planning Authority has confirmed receipt of the documentation in writing.
 Reason To ensure appropriate drainage arrangements are installed and retained to remove phosphorus from the Loch Leven Catchment Area thereby ensuring compliance with Policy 46 A & B: Loch Leven Catchment
- Loch Leven Catchment Area thereby ensuring compliance with Policy 46 A & B: Loch Leven Catchment Area of the Perth and Kinross Local Development Plan 2 (2019) and Enterprise and Infrastructure Committee Resolution of 28 August 2013.

 5. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, a detailed landscaping and planting scheme for the site shall be submitted for the written agreement of the Council as Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of the height and slopes of any mounding
- for the site shall be submitted for the written agreement of include details of the height and slopes of any mounding or recontouring of the site, full details of all hard landscaping proposals including materials and installation methods and, species, height, size and density of trees and shrubs to be planted. The scheme as subsequently approved shall be carried out and completed within the first available planting season (October to March) after the completion or bringing into use of the development, whichever is the earlier, and the date of Practical Completion of the landscaping scheme shall be supplied in writing to the Council as Planning Authority within 7 days of that date. The scheme as agreed and implemented shall thereafter be maintained to the satisfaction of the Council as Planning Authority. Reason – To ensure a satisfactory standard of development and environmental quality and to reserve the rights of the Planning Authority.
- 6. Any planting failing to become established within five years shall be replaced in the following planting season with others of similar size, species and number to the satisfaction of the Council as Planning Authority.

 Reason In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure the satisfactory implementation of the proposed planting scheme.
- 7. Prior to the commencement of any works on site, all trees on site (other than those marked for felling on the approved plans) and those which have Root Protection Areas which fall within the site shall be retained and

protected. Protection methods shall be strictly in accordance with BS 5837 2012: Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction. Protection measures, once in place, shall remain in place for the duration of construction.

Reason – To ensure a satisfactory standard of development and environmental quality and to reserve the rights of the Planning Authority.

- 8. Development shall not commence on site until an evaluation for the potential of the site to be affected by contamination by a previous use has been undertaken and, as a minimum, a Preliminary Risk Assessment (Phase 1 Desk Study) has been submitted for consideration and accepted by the Council as Planning Authority. If the preliminary risk assessment identifies the need for further assessment, an intrusive investigation shall be undertaken to identify:
 - I. the nature, extent and type(s) of contamination on the site
 - II. measures to treat/remove contamination to ensure the site is fit for the use proposed
 - III. measures to deal with contamination during construction works
 - IV. condition of the site on completion of decontamination measures.
- 9. Prior to the completion or bringing into use of any part of the development the measures to decontaminate the site shall be fully implemented in accordance with the scheme subsequently agreed by the Council as Planning Authority. Verification that the scheme has been fully implemented must also be submitted to the Council as Planning Authority.

Reason – In order to deal with any potential contamination of the site as a result of its former use.

10. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, a statement which demonstrates that at least 10% of the current carbon emissions reduction set by Scottish Building Standards will be met through the installation and operation of low and zero-carbon generating technologies shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council as Planning Authority. The approved statement shall thereafter be implemented in full.

Reason – In order to comply with Policy 32 of the adopted Perth and Kinross Local Development Plan 2 (2019).

11. All plant or equipment shall be so enclosed, attenuated and/or maintained such that any noise therefrom shall not exceed Noise Rating 35 between 0700 and 2300 hours daily, or Noise Rating 25 between 2300 and 0700 hours

- daily, within any neighbouring residential property, with all windows slightly open, when measured and/ or calculated and plotted on a rating curve chart.
- Reason In order to safeguard the neighbouring residential amenity in the area.
- 12. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, details of the specification and colour of the proposed external finishing materials to be used, including a sample of the stained timber, shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Council as Planning Authority. The scheme as agreed shall be implemented prior to the completion or bringing into use of the development, whichever is the earlier.

 Reason In the interests of visual amenity; and in order to protect the character and the appearance of the Conservation Area.

Informatives

- 1. Under Section 27A of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 (as amended) the person undertaking the development is required to give the Planning Authority prior written notification of the date on which it is intended to commence the development. A failure to comply with this statutory requirement would constitute a breach of planning control under Section 123(1) of that Act, which may result in enforcement action being taken.
- 2. As soon as practicable after the development is complete, the person who completes the development is obliged by Section 27B of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 (as amended) to give the Planning Authority written notice of that position.
- 3. No work shall be commenced until an application for building warrant has been submitted and approved.
- 4. This application was varied prior to determination, in accordance with the terms of Section 32A of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997, as amended. The variations incorporate changes to the proposed drainage strategy and proposed site plan to include vehicular access to the septic tank.
- 5. The applicant should ensure that any existing wayleaves for maintenance or repair to existing private water supply or septic drainage infrastructure in the development area are honoured throughout and after completion of the development.
- 6. The asserted right of way no. 47/11 that runs from Balgedie Toll to Dryside Road must not be obstructed during building works or on completion of the development.

- 7. The applicant should be aware of the requirements of the Council's Environment and Regulatory Services in relation to waste collection from the site and should ensure adequate measures are provided on site to allow for the collection of waste.
- 8. The applicant should take account of Planning for Nature Guidance available on the Council's website at https://www.pkc.gov.uk/ldp2biodiversity when finalising landscaping proposals for the site.
- 9. The presence of protected species, and the extent to which they could be affected by the proposed development, should be established before works commence. Should protected species be identified within the site the developer should ensure that all appropriate measures required to comply with the relevant legislation are carried out.
- 10. Existing buildings or structures may contain nesting birds between 1st March and 31st August inclusive. The applicant is reminded that, under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as amended (section 1), it is an offence to remove, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird while that nest is in use or being built. Planning permission for a development does not provide a defence against prosecution under this Act.
- 11. This planning permission is granted subject to conditions, some of which require further information to be submitted to Development Management either before works can start on site or at a certain time. The required information must be submitted via the ePlanning portal if your original application was lodged that way, otherwise send it to us at developmentmanagement@pkc.gov.uk. Please be aware that a fee is payable in respect of each request made, though there is no limit to the number of conditions that can be discharged in a single request. The Fees Charter is available on our website www.pkc.gov.uk.
- 12. The Council has two months to consider the information. You should therefore submit the required information more than two months before your permission expires. We cannot guarantee that submissions made within two months of the expiry date of your permission will be able to be dealt with before your permission lapses.

Following a suggestion from Councillor R Watters regarding an additional condition requiring the applicant to submit sample finishings for the proposal to Development Management for approval, Councillors I Massie and C Reid agreed to incorporate this into the Motion.

Amendment 1 (Councillors B Brawn and H Anderson)

Refuse as the proposal is contrary to Policies 1A, 17 and 28(a) of the Perth and Kinross Local Development Plan 2 (2019), due to being situated within a Conservation Area.

Amendment 2 (Councillors I James and A Forbes)

Grant, subject to the conditions, terms and informatives as set out in Report 23/209, and not including an additional condition as incorporated into the Revised Motion.

In terms of Standing Order 21.5, a roll call vote was taken.

6 Members voted for the Amendment 1 as follows: Councillors H Anderson, B Brawn, B Leishman and I Massie, Provost X McDade and Councillor G Stewart.

6 Members voted for Amendment 2 as follows: Councillors A Forbes and I James, Bailie C McLaren, Councillors C Reid and R Watters and Bailie M Williamson.

In terms of Standing Order 21.2, the Convener exercised his casting vote. Amendment 1 carried and was put against the Revised Motion.

In terms of Standing Order 21.5, a roll call vote was taken.

10 Members voted for the Revised Motion as follows: Councillors A Forbes, I James, B Leishman, I Massie, Provost X McDade, Bailie C McLaren, Councillors C Reid, G Stewart, R Watters and Bailie M Williamson.

2 Members voted for the Amendment as follows: Councillors B Brawn and H Anderson.

Resolved:

In accordance with the Revised Motion.